INTRODUCTION

This appeal stems from one of the largest data leaks in history. In March 2018, journalists revealed that Cambridge Analytica used personal data about tens of millions of Facebook users to influence the 2016 presidential election. The fallout from this news was enormous. Facebook took out full-page advertisements in newspapers around the world apologizing for the “breach of trust” and its failure to protect users’ information. The company’s stock value plunged by more than twenty percent. The Federal Trade Commission ultimately fined Facebook 5 billion dollars, one of the largest penalties ever assessed by the United States.

In truth, Facebook had known for years about the potential for this type of leak. Facebook opened up its social media network to third-party applications in 2007, allowing outside developers to siphon away a massive amount of personal data. Unbeknownst to most people, an application could collect a wealth of granular information not only about the users who downloaded the application, but also all of their friends, without those friends’ knowledge or consent. By 2012, employees within Facebook had sounded the alarm that developers were receiving troves of data through this side door that could easily be misused or sold.

Despite knowing these risks, Facebook made many statements giving users the false impression that their information was private and within their control. It told users that it required third-party applications to respect their privacy, even

Public Version

though Facebook devoted virtually no resources to oversight. It allowed users to customize their privacy settings, but it failed to explain that limiting sharing to “Friends Only” left their data open to third-party developers. And it suggested that data sharing required affirmative acts and consent, even though applications obtained data automatically. Facebook also failed to inform users of the Cambridge Analytica data leak for more than two years, until it became front-page news.

Because Facebook’s privacy statements were materially misleading, the District sued Facebook for violating the Consumer Protection Procedures Act (“CPPA”), D.C. Code § 28-3901 *et seq.*, which prohibits unfair and deceptive trade practices in the District. The CPPA specifically bans companies from making misleading statements to their consumers or omitting material facts. In most CPPA cases, the central inquiry is whether the representations are likely to mislead a reasonable consumer. That question is ordinarily left to a jury.

Even though the District submitted ample evidence that Facebook misled and confused its customers about its data practices, the trial court perfunctorily dismissed the District’s claims at summary judgment. It held that Facebook’s statements could not be misleading as a matter of law because in a handful of isolated passages buried inside lengthy disclosures, Facebook hinted that friends could potentially “re-share” user information with third-party applications. This decision is wrong multiple times over. *First*, it blindly accepts the facts as presented by Facebook rather than viewing

Public Version

contested facts in the light most favorable to the District, as the law requires. *Second*, it misconstrues the CPPA by allowing companies to escape liability for their misrepresentations by hiding truthful statements in places that consumers will never see. *Third*, it ignores important expert testimony showing that Facebook’s privacy policies were unreadable and misleading to the average consumer.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Superior Court erred in granting summary judgment to Facebook on the District’s consumer protection claim when there is a genuine factual dispute about whether Facebook’s statements would mislead a reasonable consumer.

2. Whether the Superior Court abused its discretion when it excluded the District’s expert, a recognized leader in the study of privacy notices who assessed Facebook’s policies using widely accepted methods.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 19, 2018, the District sued Facebook for violating the CPPA.¹ JA 78-98. Facebook moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and failure to state a claim and sought to stay the case pending other litigation. JA 4. The Superior Court denied that motion on May 31, 2019, and the case proceeded to discovery. JA 99-131. On May 17, 2022, Facebook moved for summary judgment

¹ In 2021, Facebook, Inc. changed its name to Meta Platforms, Inc. This brief continues to refer to the company as Facebook in line with the proceedings below.

Public Version

and to exclude the District’s expert, Dr. Florian Schaub. JA 142-84, 188-238. The Superior Court granted Facebook’s motion to exclude on November 14, 2022, and it granted Facebook’s motion for summary judgment on June 1, 2023. JA 961-62, 1029-46. The District timely appealed both rulings on June 29, 2023. JA 1047-52.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Factual Background.

A. Facebook opens user data to third-party applications.

Facebook is the largest social media network in the world, with nearly [REDACTED] active users, including [REDACTED] users in the District of Columbia. JA 633, 668. Although Facebook allows users to share information, the company has long recognized—based on its own detailed studies—that users [REDACTED]. See JA 3991, 4000-06, 4074-75. Facebook acknowledged that the company would be successful only [REDACTED] JA 3693 (emphasis in original); see *Facebook, Social Media Privacy, and the Use and Abuse of Data*, S. Hrg. 115–683, 115th Cong. 135 (2018) [hereinafter “Senate”], available at <https://cite.law/A5ZT-QNEG> (“We know that if people don’t trust that their information will be safe on Facebook, they won’t feel comfortable using our services.”). For that reason, Facebook emphasizes [REDACTED] to increase consumer trust. JA 3715. The perception that users have [REDACTED] over their information and can [REDACTED] has been vital to Facebook’s success. JA 3063.

Public Version

In 2007, Facebook launched Platform, a development space for third-party applications, like quizzes and games. JA 646-49. As part of Platform, Facebook created a mechanism known as “Graph API.” JA 650. The original iteration of Graph API (version 1.0) allowed any third-party developer to create an application that could collect a [REDACTED] of information from Facebook. JA 4223. Critically, an application could access information not only about the user who downloaded the application, but also about every one of that user’s *friends*, even if those friends had never heard of—much less downloaded—the application. JA 3212-14. This so-called “friend sharing” was not limited to friends’ basic information. The interface allowed third parties to access twenty-nine data fields about users’ friends, including date of birth, current city, hometown, relationship status, educational and work history, religious and political affiliations, and interests. JA 3212-14. It also provided access to all of the friend’s activities on Facebook, including preferences about news, books, music, events, fitness, games, notes, photos, and videos. JA 3212-14.

Facebook exercised little oversight over what information third-party applications could access. Although Graph API version 1.0 launched in May 2007, Facebook did not even begin to have a process for vetting applications to determine whether the developer needed the data it was collecting until April 2014. JA 4172. During that initial seven-year period, an application developer [REDACTED]

JA 4493.

B. Facebook’s privacy disclosures and settings made it difficult for users to understand or control what data was available to third parties.

Although the ability of third-party applications to access friend data through Graph API version 1.0 was well known to Facebook, it was not readily understood by Facebook’s users. During the relevant time, Facebook’s disclosures about controlling third-party behavior were spread out over three different policy documents: the Statement of Rights and Responsibilities (“SRR,” now known as the Terms of Service), the Data Use Policy, and the Platform Policy. *See* JA 2186-2488. These documents were lengthy and difficult to understand. For an average reader, it would have taken around an hour just to read them. JA 1538-40. Actually understanding the documents required first-year college reading comprehension, which is more advanced than what the average Facebook user possesses. JA 1537.

Facebook users specifically looking for information on what data third-party applications could access were also unlikely to find clear answers. For instance, the Data Use Policy in effect from 2012 through early 2015 acknowledged that information shared with friends could be “re-shared,” but it implied that this sharing required an affirmative act by either the user or the user’s friend:

Just like when you share information by email or elsewhere on the web, information you share on Facebook can be re-shared. This means that

Public Version

if you share something on Facebook, anyone who can see it can share it with others, including the games, applications, and websites they use.

JA 2220, 2236. But a user did not need to actively “share” information with a friend—and the friend did not need to actively “re-share” it—for it to be available to application developers. When a user logged into a third-party application using Graph API version 1.0, the application received all of their friends’ data “by default.” JA 3064. Users of an application had no way to restrict what data the application would collect about their friends; they were forced to accept all permissions that an application requested or not use the application at all. JA 4224-25. Moreover, the Data Use Policy talked about “games, applications, and websites you *and* your friends use,” implying that the use must be mutual, which was not the case. JA 2214, 2230 (emphasis added); *see* JA 2246 (discussing information shared “when you play a game with your Facebook friends”).

Users seeking to control who could access their information had to navigate a maze of confusing and conflicting privacy settings. Between 2010 and 2012, a user who wanted to restrict access to their profile information would likely navigate to the “Profile Information” section of the privacy settings, where they could limit access to various categories of information to “Friends Only.” JA 1525-26. But doing so would not have *actually* limited this information to the user’s friends, because it would still be accessible to those friends’ applications. Even after

Public Version

Facebook redesigned its privacy settings in 2012, accessing “Privacy Settings and Tools” still did not warn users about applications or friend sharing. JA 429.

To change what information was accessible to applications, the user had to go to “Application Settings.” JA 429. Even that page was deceiving. It showed a list of what applications the user had downloaded, but it did not show applications used by their friends. *See* JA 278, 2516. Similarly, pages like “Privacy Shortcuts,” “Privacy Checkup,” and “Privacy Basics” focused exclusively on the user’s posts; they said nothing about personal information accessible to applications downloaded by the user’s friends. *See* JA 2508-12. The only way for a user to prevent their data from being accessed by their friends’ applications was to “turn off Platform” completely. JA 4173. Facebook strongly disincentivized users from taking this step with warnings such as, “But remember, you will not be able to use any games or apps yourself.” JA 1558, 2524.

Even if a user read all of the relevant privacy policies and settings, the user would have encountered many statements giving the impression that Facebook had a robust system for protecting data. The SRR, for instance, stated, “We require applications to respect your privacy.” *E.g.*, JA 2187. The Platform Policy listed specific terms for third-party developers, conveying restrictions and limitations on what third parties could do with user data. JA 2256-58. These included requirements to give users “control,” to “protect data,” and to “follow the law.” *E.g.*,

Public Version

JA 2256, 2264-65. The Data Use Policy assured users that if “an application asks permission from someone else to access your information, the application will be allowed to use that information only in connection with the person that gave the permission, no one else.” JA 2220. The SRR also listed a variety of enforcement and oversight rights Facebook maintained over third-party applications, including Facebook’s right to “analyze [the] app, content, and data for any purpose” and to “audit” it “[t]o ensure [the] application is safe for users.” JA 2189-90.

Contrary to these assurances, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. JA 4494-95; *see* JA 4989-91. At least prior to [REDACTED], Facebook *never* [REDACTED]. JA 4505-06. And the number of third-party applications on Facebook was enormous—41 million in 2013—making it “practically impossible for Facebook to monitor individual compliance on a per-app basis.” JA 804. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] JA 4755.

Despite knowing these risks, Facebook devoted barely any resources to enforcement. Between 2011 and 2012, Facebook assigned only one person to

Public Version

enforce its data policies on the millions of third-party applications. JA 4496-97. By 2014, the enforcement group had grown, but was still only [REDACTED]. JA 4910, 4919. In Facebook's own words, its enforcement of Platform policies was

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] JA 4462-66.

Even when Facebook became aware of violations, it often [REDACTED]. *E.g.*, JA 4517-18, 4521, 4556, 4667-69, 4689-94. Facebook would not [REDACTED] to a violation if it was not [REDACTED], JA 4530, 4999, or if the application had a sufficiently large [REDACTED] on Facebook, JA 4693. Facebook also [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

See JA 5091-96. Even when made aware that a whitelisted application was [REDACTED] [REDACTED]. JA 5098-5102.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. *E.g.*, JA 3972-73, 4048-71, 4088-97, 4101. For instance, Facebook acknowledged in a 2014 internal presentation that users have [REDACTED]

[REDACTED], and that the sharing is done [REDACTED]

Public Version

JA 4095. It also knew that its policies were [REDACTED]
[REDACTED]. JA 4464. Facebook conducted several studies and surveys showing that users [REDACTED]
[REDACTED]. JA 3998-4022. Nonetheless, users found it [REDACTED] privacy settings and were [REDACTED] about the permissions for third-party applications. JA 4020-29, 4044-71, 4074-75, 4077-81, 4107, 4176. The “report an app” function, for example, was [REDACTED]
[REDACTED]
JA 3984, 5026-27.

C. Cambridge Analytica misuses data from millions of Facebook users.

Launching Platform proved incredibly lucrative for both Facebook and outside developers. Facebook gained millions of new applications, greatly enhancing the value of its social media service. Developers gained access to a wealth of information about users that could be readily monetized. As one Facebook employee explained, [REDACTED]
[REDACTED] JA 4501.

[REDACTED]. JA 4696-4704. Facebook even allowed advertisers to target specific Facebook users based on demographics, interests, and behaviors—in other words, the same types of data fields that third-party developers could obtain through

Public Version

their applications. JA 4181, 5056-58. Although Facebook's policies purportedly prohibited applications from selling data to advertisers, Facebook knew that many of its applications bought advertising themselves or shared their data with advertisers. An internal Facebook communication from March 2013 discussed one application that had been [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] JA 4521. Despite knowing that this application was violating its policies [REDACTED] Facebook never [REDACTED] JA 4521.

In 2014, two years after Facebook employees had identified a [REDACTED] [REDACTED], Facebook began to close the spigot of friend data. It launched Graph API version 2.0, which generally did not allow applications to access friend data unless the friend had also installed the application. JA 726-27. However, existing applications were given until 2015 to transition to the new version, giving them access to friend data for an extra year. JA 739. Facebook granted many applications extensions on this one-year deadline, and it additionally offered several applications "private" APIs, which gave them access to a broader swath of data permanently. JA 4423, 4431-34. Even applications that fully transitioned to Graph API version 2.0 were not required to destroy the friend data they had already collected; that data was [REDACTED] JA 5125-27.

Facebook's efforts to restrict access to friend data came too late to prevent the

Public Version

Cambridge Analytica data leak. In November 2013, Aleksandr Kogan launched an application using Graph API version 1.0, later named “*thisisyourdigitallife*.” JA 808. The application was ostensibly a personality test, but really it was a mechanism to collect and monetize a massive amount of Facebook user data. Kogan informed Facebook that he was collecting [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. JA 5148; *see* JA 5133-34, 5143-44, 5152-64. But he made clear in the application’s privacy policy that he intended to [REDACTED] the user data that he collected, a blatant violation of Facebook’s rules. JA 5023-24. Because Facebook did not vet applications at the time, no one at the company noticed. JA 4177.

Approximately [REDACTED] Facebook users installed Kogan’s application, including [REDACTED] in the District. JA 824. But because Graph API version 1.0 allowed developers to siphon data about users’ friends, Kogan was able to collect data on 87 *million* people. JA 824. That included an estimated [REDACTED] people in the District who never downloaded his application—more than half of the District’s entire population. JA 825. The data collected included each user’s [REDACTED] [REDACTED]. JA 812-13.

True to his word, Kogan sold this data to Cambridge Analytica, which used it to create political advertising that generated millions of dollars in revenue for Facebook. JA 534-37, 2814-16, 4696-4704. Campaigns could target particular

Public Version

users based on details about their daily lives that the users had never agreed to share with Cambridge Analytica—indeed, that they thought they were sharing with “Friends Only.” *See* JA 4711-12. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] JA 4533-43. Staff described the company as [REDACTED] [REDACTED] that they suspected of [REDACTED] user data for advertising purposes. JA 4533. However, the [REDACTED] because Facebook lacked [REDACTED]. JA 5059-60.

On December 11, 2015, the Guardian published an article revealing that Kogan may have passed data obtained through his application to Cambridge Analytica. JA 813-14. Facebook [REDACTED] [REDACTED]. JA 3184-86. [REDACTED] that this was a [REDACTED] violation of Facebook’s policies against selling user data. JA 3184. Facebook requested that Kogan and Cambridge Analytica delete the user data they had obtained, JA 3184, but [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. JA 4179-80, 4995. [REDACTED] [REDACTED]. *See* JA 821. [REDACTED] [REDACTED]. JA 4181, 5056-58.

Facebook continued to [REDACTED]

Public Version

[REDACTED]. Facebook employees recognized that merely [REDACTED] Cambridge Analytica to delete its data was [REDACTED] JA 5016. In November 2016, Facebook employees noted that [REDACTED] [REDACTED] and that [REDACTED] [REDACTED] JA 4712. However, Facebook [REDACTED].

On March 17, 2018, journalists reported that Cambridge Analytica had received individual user data from Facebook (something the Guardian’s previous reporting had not revealed), had not deleted the data after the 2015 reporting, and had used the data for advertising during the 2016 presidential election. *See* Matthew Rosenberg et al., *How Trump Consultants Exploited the Facebook Data of Millions*, N.Y. Times (Mar. 17, 2018), <https://tinyurl.com/3es7dhh5>. The public’s reaction to this revelation was swift. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] JA 5065-67, 5169-72. Facebook’s stock value dropped by approximately 21% within nine days. JA 5174. Governmental bodies around the globe—including the U.S. Congress, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), and a bipartisan coalition of 37 state attorneys general—launched investigations into Facebook’s conduct. JA 822-23. Only after this public furor did Facebook notify users whose data had been

Public Version

obtained by Cambridge Analytica. JA 825-27.

Facebook CEO Mark Zuckerberg testified that the Cambridge Analytica incident was “incredibly important,” “relevant to a lot of people,” and that people were “rightfully paying attention” to it. Senate at 131; JA 3858-60. He also recognized that users “certainly did not expect” their data to be sold and that the revelations had caused users significant “concern[.]” Senate at 95, 135. He emphasized that users’ expectation of “complete control” is “the most important principle for Facebook,” because users assume that their information is going to “who they say it is going to” and no one else. Senate at 22.

2. Procedural History.

A. The District sues Facebook for violating the CPPA.

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