No. 23-CV-550

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAIrSceived 08/02/2024 06:02 PM Filed 08/02/2024 06:02 PM

## DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, Appellant,

v.

FACEBOOK, INC., Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

## **REDACTED BRIEF FOR APPELLEE FACEBOOK, INC.**

DATED: August 2, 2024

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The District points to evidence that Facebook sometimes critiqued the length of its own policies and noted users might not read them. Br. 27. Facebook's efforts to improve its own disclosures should be encouraged, not weaponized, and in any event

The District cites this Court's decision in *Center for Inquiry Inc. v. Walmart, Inc.*, 283 A.3d 109 (D.C. 2022), which declined to hold at the pleading stage that "reasonable consumers will test prominent front-label claims by examining the fine print on the back label." 283 A.3d at 121. But Facebook's numerous disclosures are not "fine print" that undercut a "front-label" claim. Facebook informed users that they can control access to their information through their settings, and Facebook's policies repeatedly explained how they could do that. *See supra* 21–23.

*Enforcement.* The District next argues that consumers "could have been misled by Facebook's statements suggesting it had powerful tools to protect user data when it did not." Br. 28. This argument falters several times over.

To start, the argument is new, and "arguments not raised in the trial court are not usually considered on appeal." *Thornton v. Nw. Bank of Minn.*, 860 A.2d 838, 842 (D.C. 2004). In the Superior Court, the District argued that Facebook's enforcement practices were insufficiently robust because Facebook purportedly did not exercise all the enforcement powers in its arsenal. JA 618–21; *see also* JA 1039– 41 (rejecting this argument); JA 80 (complaint alleging "Facebook misrepresented

those efforts do not show that Facebook's specific, repeated disclosures about friend sharing were misleading. The District also mischaracterizes the evidence on this issue.

Br. 27 (quoting JA 4095).

JA 4095,

25

the extent to which it protects its consumers' personal data"). The District now switches on appeal to the new theory that Facebook lacked the *capability* to enforce its policies. Br. 28–31 (arguing users "could have been misled by Facebook's statements suggesting it had powerful tools to protect user data when it did not"). This Court need not and should not entertain this new argument.

In any event, the District's new theory is no more viable than its old one. A CPPA claim will not lie simply because the District believes Facebook's enforcement capabilities were "unsatisfactory" or "insufficient." *Lee*, 2021 WL 2665955, at \*6. Instead, the District must show Facebook *misled consumers* about those capabilities. The District cannot make that showing, because as the Superior Court and other courts have confirmed, Facebook "never guaranteed how it would proceed in an enforcement investigation." JA 1040; *see also* Op. at 11, *Illinois*, No. 2018-CH-3868 ("Facebook's relevant policies only indicate the enforcement *available* to it and Facebook makes no guarantee as to how it will proceed in such investigations." (emphasis added)).

Facebook's disclosures about its enforcement program were abundantly clear and accurate. The SRR stressed that "FACEBOOK IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ACTIONS . . . OF THIRD PARTIES," and the Data Use Policy similarly warned that "games, applications and websites are created and maintained by other businesses and developers who are not part of, or controlled by, Facebook." JA 231,

26

263–64, 267, 327; *see also, e.g.*, JA 231, 266–67 ("Information collected by these apps, websites or integrated services is subject to their own terms and policies."); JA 2187 ("We do our best to keep Facebook safe, but we cannot guarantee it.").

In other cases where plaintiffs have alleged that a defendant failed to safeguard consumers' data, courts have held "no reasonable consumer could have been deceived" where the defendant disclosed that it could not "ensure or warrant the security of any information transmitted" to it. *In re Sony Gaming Networks & Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig.*, 903 F. Supp. 2d 942, 968 (S.D. Cal. 2012); *see also* JA 1040 (Superior Court opinion recognizing that Facebook's policies "clearly disclaim control over how third-party applications operate"). So too here: Facebook could not (and did not) guarantee bad actors would not violate its policies, and it never misled users into believing it could.

Even on their own terms, the District's arguments fail. The District cites a statement in Facebook's SRR that the company "require[s] applications to respect your privacy," but omits the rest of the sentence: "your agreement with that application will control how the application can use, store, and transfer that content and information." JA 2187; *see* Br. 28. Nor, in any event, does the fact that Facebook established rules for app developers mean that Facebook has control over their conduct or that Facebook could detect all bad actors. Similarly, the District cites a statement in the Data Use Policy that "[i]f an application asks permission

from someone else to access your information, the application will be allowed to use that information only in connection with the person that gave the permission and no one else." JA 2220; see Br. 28–29. The District argues that consumers may have inferred from this statement that Facebook had "a robust enforcement system," but it does not point to any actual promise of "robust" enforcement. Br. 28-30; see Op. at 11, Illinois, No. 2018-CH-3868 ("Facebook makes no guarantee as to how it will proceed in such investigations"). Finally, the District collects statements directed to app developers—not users—setting out what those developers could and could not do, and reserving Facebook's rights to audit the app or take enforcement action. Br. 28–29 (citing JA 2189–90). The District suggests users could have understood these statements to mean that Facebook had more extensive enforcement capabilities than it did. *Id.* But no reasonable consumer would read these statements to mean that Facebook could prevent third parties from violating its policies, especially in light of Facebook's disclosures saying the opposite. See supra 26–27.

The District also cites *In re Facebook*, where one court concluded that Facebook's language about what apps were "allowed" to do could be understood to mean that Facebook was "actively policing" app developers or that a "technological block" would prevent data misuse. Br. 29 (quoting 402 F. Supp. 3d at 794). Even if that were correct, and it is not, it does not rescue the District's claim. *In re Facebook* analyzed the relevant statement in isolation at the motion-to-dismiss stage;

as the District concedes, however, at summary judgment the court must consider "the evidence as a whole." Br. 24 & n.3. A reasonable consumer would read that statement alongside Facebook's clear disclosures that it was not responsible for, and could not control, third parties' violations of its policies. See supra 26-27. Additionally, In re Facebook was expressly predicated on the taken-as-true allegation (because of the motion-to-dismiss posture) that Facebook "did nothing" to enforce its policy. 402 F. Supp. 3d at 795. Here, by contrast, the evidence on summary judgment shows that Facebook *did* engage in enforcement efforts—both manual and automated-to enforce compliance with its policies. See, e.g., JA 311-29. The District thinks Facebook could have done more, but the District's dissatisfaction with Facebook's enforcement efforts does not give rise to a CPPA claim. See Lee, 2021 WL 2665955, at \*6 (not enough to allege "unsatisfactory" or "insufficient" practices).<sup>5</sup>

*Third-party data misuse.* Last, the District argues that Facebook failed to promptly notify users about third-party data misuse—specifically, Cambridge Analytica's receipt of user data from Kogan in 2015. Br. 31–33. The District does not contest that Facebook notified users in 2018, when news broke that Cambridge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In criticizing Facebook's enforcement program, much of the evidence the District cites is from outside the relevant time period, November 1, 2013 through April 9, 2018. *See* Br. 30 (citing deposition testimony from individual who left Facebook in 2012, JA 4494–97, emails from 2011 and 2013, JA 4693, 4999, and PowerPoint presentation from 2012, JA 4755).

Analytica had used Facebook data for the Trump campaign. *See* JA 1044–45. It simply argues Facebook should have notified users *earlier*. This does not make out a CPPA claim for two reasons.

*First*, as the Superior Court concluded, "Facebook['s] policies repeatedly disclosed the potential for data misuse by third-party applications." JA 1043; *supra* 26–27. Given these disclosures, a reasonable consumer was already on notice from Facebook that third-party data misuse was a possibility, such that failing to disclose a particular instance of data misuse could not have been misleading.

Second, Facebook's failure to notify users about Cambridge Analytica on the District's preferred timeline could not have misled consumers because Cambridge Analytica's acquisition of user data was widely publicized in the press. Where "a reasonably well-informed consumer in the District of Columbia would have learned" information from "the print and broadcast media," a jury "could not find that omitting [the] information . . . would be a material omission." *Dahlgren v. Audiovox Commc 'ns Corp.*, 2010 WL 2710128 (D.C. Super. Ct. July 8, 2010) (slip op. at 62–63); see also, e.g., Floyd v. Bank of Am. Corp., 70 A.3d 246, 256–57 (D.C. 2013) (no deception "as a matter of law" given "frequent media coverage"). Here, major news sources like *The Guardian* prominently reported on Cambridge Analytica's use of Facebook user data for the Cruz campaign in 2015. See JA 333. A reasonable consumer could not have avoided this news if she tried.

#### 2. The District's remaining arguments are meritless.

Unable to show Facebook misled consumers, the District argues the Superior Court committed various "legal errors." Br. 36. These arguments lack merit.

*First*, the District claims the Superior Court "ignored genuine disputes of material fact." Br. 36–39. Not so. To show a *genuine* dispute at the summary judgment stage, the District had to produce "significant probative evidence tending to support the complaint" and "specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Tucci*, 956 A.2d at 690 & n.2; *see also Anderson*, 477 U.S. at 249–50. And to show that dispute is *material*, the District had to demonstrate that it could "affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law." *Anderson*, 477 U.S. at 248. The District has failed to marshal evidence to meet these standards.

The District asserts Facebook's privacy tools were not "easy to locate." Br. 36–37. But it is undisputed that Facebook's disclosures about friend sharing were repeated not just in privacy tools like the Help Center and the Privacy Settings, but also in the SRR, Data Use Policy, App Settings, Privacy Tour, and elsewhere. JA 222–27, 255–72, 277–82; *see supra* 21–23. The District cites internal studies and comments at Facebook about how features like the Help Center could be improved, Br. 36, but neither Facebook's efforts to improve the readability and usability of its features nor the District's critiques of those features show that Facebook misled its users about friend sharing or any other topic.

The District next repeats its critiques of Facebook's enforcement efforts, arguing they were "inconsistent and prone to bias." Br. 37. Even if true, this is not a negligence suit. The CPPA asks whether a company's *disclosures* were *misleading*—not whether its practices were "insufficient" or "inadequate." *Lee*, 2021 WL 2665955, at \*6. Similarly, the District quibbles about when Facebook was "on notice" of Cambridge Analytica's improper receipt and retention of user data. Br. 37–38. But that, too, is a red herring, because there was nothing *misleading* about failing to notify users every time a third party violated Facebook's policies— especially given Facebook's disclosures explicitly telling users this could happen and the widespread press reports on Cambridge Analytica. *See supra* 26–27, 30. As the Superior Court explained, the fact that "the District may disagree with Facebook's approach" does not make out a CPPA claim. JA 1045.<sup>6</sup>

*Second*, the District asserts the Superior Court "misapplied the CPPA," Br. 39, but its effort to manufacture error distorts the Superior Court's ruling.

The District first says the Superior Court "assumed that truthful disclosures no matter their context or omissions—cannot be misleading under the CPPA." Br. 39. The Superior Court said no such thing. Instead, it correctly recited this Court's recognition that a "reasonable consumer *generally* would not deem an accurate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The District's other purported "factual disputes" repeat its arguments about Facebook's friend-sharing and enforcement disclosures. Br. 38–39.

statement to be misleading." JA 1035 (emphasis added) (quoting *Saucier v. Countrywide Home Loans*, 64 A.3d 428, 442 (D.C. 2013)). The Superior Court acknowledged that "omissions" are actionable if they "have a tendency to mislead." JA 1034 (quoting D.C. Code § 28-3904). It then analyzed Facebook's disclosures, noted they were indeed accurate based on the record evidence, and properly held they were not misleading. JA 1035–45. There was no error in that analysis.

Next, the District claims the Superior Court improperly relied on the lack of a legal "duty" to disclose information about Cambridge Analytica's data misuse. Br. 40; see Saucier, 64 A.3d at 444. This, too, misreads the Superior Court's decision. Although the Court stated that neither the CPPA nor any other statute imposed a "duty" on Facebook to act differently or make further disclosures, JA 1041-43, in context those statements merely explained why no additional disclosures about Cambridge Analytica were necessary to make Facebook's *existing* disclosures about third-party data misuse complete and not misleading. The Superior Court noted, for example, that "it is difficult to imagine what else Facebook could have conceivably done to be more forthcoming about [its] privacy settings." JA 1042. That analysis was correct: regardless of whether a company has a "duty" to disclose, a plaintiff must prove that the company's representations or omissions had "a tendency to mislead." D.C. Code § 28-3904(e), (f-1). The District failed to prove that here.

Last, the District faults the Superior Court for citing decisions from other jurisdictions involving Facebook's disclosures, noting some of the cases applied "different legal standards." Br. 40. But the Superior Court did not apply those standards, JA 1034–35, and relying on persuasive authority is not error.

*Third*, the District argues (at 41–44) the Superior Court should have applied a mere preponderance standard, while conceding that this Court has repeatedly held that "[t]he burden of proof for CPPA claims is clear and convincing evidence." Frankeny v. Dist. Hosp. Partners, LP, 225 A.3d 999, 1005 (D.C. 2020); see also, e.g., Pearson, 961 A.2d at 1074 (same and collecting cases). The District's effort to lower the bar and limit the clear-and-convincing standard to claims of *intentional* misrepresentation is baseless. The District does not cite a single case applying a preponderance standard for CPPA claims. It instead points to Fort Lincoln Civic Ass'n v. Fort Lincoln New Torn Corp., 944 A.2d 1055 (D.C. 2008), but nothing in Fort Lincoln "implied" that the CPPA "did away with . . . the clear-and-convincing standard" for claims of unintentional misrepresentation. Contra Br. 43. In holding that misleading statements need not be "willful or intentional," that case addressed only the *elements* of a CPPA claim; it did not purport to change the burden of proof. 944 A.2d at 1073. And this Court left no doubt when it applied the clear-andconvincing standard 12 years later in *Frankeny*—which, as the District concedes, addressed an unintentional misrepresentation claim. 225 A.3d at 1005; see Br. 43.

Regardless, the District's last-ditch effort to lower its burden cannot salvage its case. The Superior Court correctly concluded that "Facebook clearly and repeatedly made disclosures to users about its policies such that the reasonable user could not have been misled as a matter of law." JA 1035. Summary judgment was proper for Facebook under any standard.

### B. The District Also Failed To Prove That Any Of The Alleged Misstatements Or Omissions Were Material.

Because the District failed to prove any of Facebook's disclosures were misleading, this Court—like the Superior Court—need not reach materiality. But even if the District had carried its burden, which it did not, the judgment should still be affirmed on the separate and alternative ground that none of the alleged misstatements or omissions was "material." D.C. Code § 28-3904(e), (f), (f-1); *see Wagner v. Georgetown Univ. Med. Ctr.*, 768 A.2d 546, 559–60 (D.C. 2001) (appellate court may "rest affirmance on any ground that finds support in the record" (quotation marks omitted)).

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